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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (If known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

St. Joseph Catholic Church in Westphalia, Missouri, is a three aisle,
cruciform building of stone construction with a frame clerestory, an
octagonal apse, and a central belfry steeple towering above the entrance.
The church, picturesquely situated on a hilltop and facing northeast,
was originally erected in 1848 and has undergone two major alterations
since that date.

Exterior

The structure is made of two different stone materials, a gray lime-
stone with travertine-like texture that is used for the foundation and
trim, and a local soft tan stone called cottonstone employed for the
balance of the work. All the stoneiis roughly dressed and laid in
random courses. The clerestory is wood frame covered with sheet metal
embossed to simulate stone masonry.

The northeast end of the church is dominated by a central square tower
with belfry and spire. The main entrance is centrally located at the
first floor level of the tower's northeast wall and is surmounted by a
stone tympanum and a semi-circular arch supported by two stone columns
with high bases and cushions. Above the arch is a round hood-mould, the
keystone of which is enlarged to serve as a pedestal for a statue of the
church's patron saint. Directly above the entrance at the second story
is a semi-circular arch enclosing two long, narrow stained-glass windows.

Rising above the tower is a square belfry containing four bells made for
the church in St.- Louis in 1883, - A' large’, round arch’' filled with wood-
en louvers penetrates each of the belfry's four sides. A wooden spire
covered with asbestos shingles: and' crowned-with a ‘gold cross terminates
the steeple.

To each side of the tower is a projection of the narthex. The narthex's
northeast wall has three round-arched windows with stained-glass and
wooden tracery. This window motif is repeated on the northwest and south-
east sides. The four corners of the narthex are strengthened by square
buttresses topped by hexagonal pinnacles.

Five equally spaced stained-glass windows with round arches, limestone
sills, and wooden tracery line the northwest side of the structure, three
distributed along the aisle wall and two along the transcept. The
openings of the south, southeast wall are identical with the addition of
a small covered entranceway at the center of the south, southeast trans-
cept arm. )

The apse has a single, round-arched window on the southwest side and the
upper portion of a matching window on the west side. It is otherwise
devoid of ornamentation. - The fenestration of the clerestory repeats
that of the aisles with. the addition of a, small, opening in, the gable of
the west, southwest wall. It has a simple ridge roof with sheet metal
roofing. '
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

St. Joseph Church is significant as a visual and social landmark in
Westphalia, Missouri. The church.is also noteworthy for its role
in the development of the community.

The Romanesque~Gothic building provides a forceful orientation point
as it is situated prominently on a hill, Surrounded by a school,
convent, and German-influenced nineteenth century houses; the church
can be seen from any point in what seems to be an 0ld World Village
transplanted to the middle of the American continent. From a
distance outside of the town, the church spire can be seen towering
above everything around it.

Lewis Mumford states that a town's physical environment becomes a
symbol of its citizens' social relatedness and must be subservient
to a town's social needs. Social facts are primary; the physical
organization of the town, its industries and its markets, its lines
of communication and traffic, revolvé around social functions.l
While the church was underthe supervision of the Jesuits, 1835-1883,
the church reflected the daily lives of its parishioners. Even the
alterations done in 1883 and 1905 are a reflection of the changing
needs of the people of Westphalia, if for no other reason than that
a larger church was needed.

The central location of a church, even the mere presence of one in
a town, in this area and in this era, was significant. Early urban
promoters realized that the presence of a church attracted settlers
and often offered the church land and money to build with if they
would locate in their town.

Historically, this church has much to offer. The Low-German

community of Westphalia was founded in 1835 by a colony of Catholic
Westphalians and Rhinelanders from Northern Germany., The settlement

of seven families initiated Osage County to German immigrants. Some

of the immigrants were well educated and apparently had hoped to
"...associate themselves-in some way with .an institution of learning
in Central Missouri, but the primitive conditions they: encountered
soon disillusioned them and some of their number returned to Germany. "2
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7. #1 ST. JOSEPH CHURCH

A one-story rectangular stone sacristy with basement is appended to the
west corner of the church.

Interior

The interior .of the church is divided into a wide nave and two narrow
aisles separated by a nave arcade. The structure has rib vaulting and
a double balcony, the upper level of which serves as a choir and organ
loft. Access to the balconies is gained by two stairways, one to each
side of the tower. The columns, walls, and ceiling vaults are plaster-
ed and brilliantly painted and decorated. The church is completed with
elaborate wood chancel fittings, including the altar rail, altars, re-
redos, and pulpit.

Alterations

The original 1848 building was a simple, one-story structure with a
ridge roof, flat ceiling, and square-headed windows. The exterior
walls of this 1848 building remain, but they have been altered by
changing the square-headed windows to a round-arched type. A close
study of the masonry does not reveal this alteration, but an old
photograph in the possession of the church exhibits this change clearly.

In 1883, the tower was added.l The belfry contains four bells, the
largest being 64" in diameter. The date 1883 is cast as part of the
inscription on the bells. These bells were made in St. Louis by J.G.
Stuckstede and Brothers.

An extensive remodeling project was carried out in 1905:

The magnificent rock structure of the church was changed
and enlarged in 1905 by Father Francis Anton Deipenbrock.
The plain cream walls were replaced by murals. The dark,
groined Gothic arches and the pulpit became Rococo and
colorful. The old yellow and purple windows are now
magnificent stained art glass depicting various Saints.2
Evidence that the masonry portion of the tower antedates the raising

of the clerestory roof is to be found in the finished masonry work on
the nave side of the tower, at a level below the present ceiling line.
Even the wood louvers of the belfry opening are still extant below the
roof. This confirms the opinion that the final stage of construction
was the addition of the clerestory in 1905. Work of this period in-
cludes the installation of the interior columns, the clerestory of wood
studs and metal facing, and the new roof constructed of light wood
framing.,
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7. #2 ST. JOSEPH CHURCH

Both of the balconies and the stairways which flank the central tower
also date from the 1905 alteration period.3 The stonework enclosing
the stairways clearly shows a departure in character, and there are
several narrow windows in the sides of the tower which indicate that
these walls were originally exposed to the outside. Removal of some
of the plaster confirms this.

Transcepts were added in 1905 involving major alteration to the altar
end of the building, the original apse being retained.%

The sacristy wing could be original, but more likely was added at the
time the transcepts were built.

As previously mentioned, the arched windows were installed during or
after the raising of the clerestory, completing the transformation

of a simple village church into the imposing Romanesque-Gothic structure
we see today. :

The wall around the churchyard was also built in 1905 as a continu-
ation of the work that was being done on the church.®

In 1923, the old kerosene lamps were replaced with electrical lighting
fixtures.

"In 1959, the church was redecorated and refreshed with new paint and
new murals. The whole church was cleaned and redone.'8

Ten years ago [1961], the church was "modernized."” Heating facilities
were installed as well as new lighting fixtures. The pews were re-
placed. The floor, which had been one step higher in the pew sections
than in the aisles, was lowered to the same level as the aisles for
safety reasons.

Footnotes

1. J.C. Melies, History of the Founding of the Parish and Town of
Westphalia, Missouri, from August 6, 1835 to August 6, 1935
(Vienna, Missouri: N. Pub., 1935).

2. John Buchanan and Julia B. Good, "First Mass at Westphalia Cele-
brated 125 Years Ago," The Catholic Missourian, July 10, 1960,
p. 6a.
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7. #3 ST, JOSEPH CHURCH

3. W. Philip Cottom, Jr., A.I.A., Architectural Consultant Field
Report, 1969, p. 4.

4., Ibid., p. 4.

5. Ibid., p. 5.

6. Buchanan and Good, 1960, p. 8a.

7. Melies, 1935.

8. Buchanan and Good, 1960, p. 7a.

9. Statement by Father Degnan, personal interview, December 15, 1971.
The description of the physical appearance of the building is based

on the data included in a field report by W. Philip Cotton, Jr., A.I.A.,
written on June 13, 1969. The report was contracted by the Missouri

State Park Board and is filed at its central office, P.0. Box 176,
1204 Jefferson Building, Jefferson City, Missouri 65101.
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8. #1 ST. JOSEPH CHURCH

Jesuit fathers, Christ Hoecken and Cornelius Walters, came to the
settlement in August, 1835, and the first Holy Mass was said for the
settlers in a log hut. It was in 1838, under the direction of Father
Ferdinand Benedict Helias de Huddeghem, that Westphalia was made the
resident headquarters of the Central Missouri Mission. St. Joseph
remained the mother-church from 1838-1883, at which time the Jesuits
departed and the church was made a parish church. Westphalia's

St. Joseph was picked as the headquarters because of its strategic
location in central Missouri where much missionary work was being done.
It was also a stepping stone to the long contemplated Indian mission.

Religion, being the center of community life, gave the Jesuit priests
an opportunity to exercise a great amount of influence over the type

of education and social activities the settlers participated in.

The first school, built in 1835, was built by a Jesuit priest. The
priests were well educated, the majority having received their training
in the universities of Germany and Belgium. For more than a century,
all of Westphalia's pastors were conversant in German. A bilingual
teaching program was thus introduced in the school system as early as
1835. By the time the child was graduated from the elementary grades,
he could speak High and Low German as well as English. The priests
encouraged the writing of German poetry which was heavily influenced

by German Romanticism and traditions. For all occasions - festivals,
commerations, at births and deaths - German poetry, folk songs, and
stories were sung and recited. The Church, by emphasizing the
importance of bilingual training and German literature and customs,
functioned to preserve the values and myths which otherwise would

have been lost through acculturalization.3 ,

Footnotes

1. David R. Weimer, ed., City and Country inAAmerica (N. P1.: N,
Pub., 1926), p. 226.

2, Charles L. Souvay, ed., St. Louis Catholic Historical Review
(St. Louis: Catholic Historical Society of St. Louis, 1920),
pp. 158-163.

3. W.A. Willibrand, "Popular German Poetry at Westphalia, Missouri"
[unpublished paper], pp. 1-14, (Xerox copy); and Willibrand,
"When German Was King: A FLES Program Around 1900," The German

Quarterly (1957), pp. 254-261.
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ST. JOSEPH CHURCH
COUNTY: Osage
LOCATION: Main St., Westphalia, MO 65085
(4 blocks E of Hwy. 63)
. OWNER: Bishop Michael McAuliffe
ADDRESS : Diocese of Jefferson City
Chancery Office, P.0. Box 417
Jefferson City, MO 65101
DATE APPROVED BY A.C.: 12-12-70
DATE SENT TO JEFF. CITY: 03-06-72
DATE SENT TO D.C.: 03-06-72
DATE OF REC. IN D.C.: 03-16-72 ~
DATE PLACED ON NATIONAL REGISTER: Oh-11-72 -
DATE AWARDED CERTIFICATE 03-23-74
{AND PRESENTOR) : H. Meade Summers - AC Member, Chairman
DATE FILE REVIEWED:




St. Joseph Church is significant as a visual and social landmark in
Westphalia, Missouri. The church is also noteworthy for its role in
the development of the community.
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— FHOTO CREDIT: Steve Bloch
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CESCRIBE VIEW. DIRECTION, E£TC.
Looking south, view of northeast (primary) facade, and north-
west facade (right) of church, including the main entrance
and the central square tower with belfry and spire.
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE ‘ Mi |
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES °°”"”Osage
PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPH FORM FOR NPS USE ONLY
(Type all entries - attach to or enclose with photograph) ENTRY NUMe£R pAIE

common: T Joééph Church

AND/OR HISTORIC:

L OCA 'HQN

(STREET AND NUMBER;:

Main Street, four blocks east of Highway 63

CITY OR TOWN:

' _Westphalia ] s ;
STATE: . CODE |[COUNTY: CODE
_ 7 Missouri 65085 29 1| ___ Osage . _ 151 |-
Eﬁ?ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬂgﬂﬁiﬂf_n, S e e e L e T
PHOTO CREDIT: W. Philip Cotton, Jr., A.I.A.
DATE OF PHOTO: June 13, 1969

NEGATIVE FILED AT:  Miggouri State Park Board, P.0. Box 176,
1204 Jefferson Buildir

Pt

DESCRIBE VIEW, DIRECTION, ETC,

Looking northeast, view‘of southwest side (left) and south,
southeast side (right) of the church. The apse is devoid
of ornamentation except for the small round-arched window

on the southwest side. !
'L(' W [ l-!; ;7
L J







INSTRUCTIONS

SEE

e

NEGATIVE FILED aT: Migsguri State Park Board, P.0. Box 176,

:BENT!F' ICATION -

1204 Jefferson Buil ina._Jeffe:son Citv. Mia gg;i Qj QL ,

DESCRIBE VIEW, DIRECTION ETC .

Looking southeast, view of west walls of the sacristy
and apse portions of the church,

L
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR sTATE
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Missouri 1
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES [ _ ] ,
PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPH FORM FOR NPS USE ONLY E
{Type all entries - attach to or enclose with photograph) ELTNY momnsn onIs s.
c.o.r.kmon St. Joseph "‘Cl-.zuﬂrch
AND/OR HISTORIC:
il OCATIGN g
B TREET AND NUMBER: b
Main Street, four blocks east of Hipghway 63 L
CITY OR TOWN: ooy
Westphalia .
STATE: CODE {COUNTY: CODE P—v
Missouri 65085 29 Osage 151
PHOTO REFERENCE | T T R
SHMOTO CREDIT: W, PhiliE Cotton Jr. , A T.A,
DATE OF PHOTG: June 13, 1969
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